
PUD

PUD

R-2

R-1 PUD
PUD

PUD

PLR

PUD

PUD

R-1

R-1

R-1

PUD

PUD

PLR

PUD

R-1
SITE

Amberleigh 
Community Park 

14-062 FDP/FP
Final Development Plan/Final Plat

Deer Run - Subarea C
Dublin Road & Memorial Drive

0 400200
Feet F

Scioto River





Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
September 18, 2014 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 1 of 6 

 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
SEPTEMBER 18, 2014 

 
2.  Deer Run PUD, Subarea C-Cortona       Dublin Road and Memorial Drive 

 14-062FDP/FP        Final Development Plan/Final Plat 
 

The Chair Chris Amorose Groomes introduced this application for a request to plat and develop 37 single-

family, cluster lots with 7.3 acres of open space and associated site improvements for Subarea C within 
the Deer Run Planned Unit Development, at the northeast corner of the intersection of Dublin Road and 

Memorial Drive. Three motions are required, one for the Development Text Modification, one for the Final 
Development Plan and one for the Final Plat. The Commission will forward their recommendation to City 

Council for the Final Plat.  

 
Ms. Amorose Groomes swore in anyone who intended to address the Commission on this case.  

 
Marie Downie pointed out that there were some public comments that were provided to the Commission, 

prior to the meeting.  
 

Ms. Downie presented the site and said the Rezoning, Preliminary Development Plan, and Preliminary Plat 

were approved by PZC and City Council in 2011, including a tree waiver due to the large number of trees 
planted by the owner. She said Subareas A and B have both been approved for Estate Lots. She said 

Subarea C was approved for cluster lots and is the first subarea in the Deer Run site to continue with the 
Final Development Plan and Final Plat.  

Ms. Downie reported the applicant did arrange a public meeting with the surrounding Amberleigh 

neighbors a few weeks ago, however, there was zero attendance.  
 

Ms. Downie stated the site is approximately 17.6 acres at Dublin Road and Memorial Drive, surrounded 
by PUD residential areas as well as the Amberleigh Community Park to the south. She said the proposed 

Final Development Plan includes 37 single-family lots, clustered behind two main tree preservation areas 
along Memorial Drive and Dublin Road to preserve the surrounding trees. She said there are 7.3 acres of 

open space proposed that will be owned and maintained by the Homeowner’s Association. She explained 

that access is provided from Memorial Drive by Sapri Boulevard, a gated private drive aligned with the 
intersection of Autumnwood Way. She said the streets are all proposed to be private drives which was 

previously approved by City Council at the time of the rezoning. She said there were no internal sidewalks 
proposed, which was also approved at the time of the rezoning, however, there is a five-foot sidewalk 

proposed to the north of Memorial Drive and a four-foot path that connects Pesaro Way to the 

Amberleigh Community Park.  
 

Ms. Downie reported that the text has specific requirements for each lot. She said there are four lots that 
are not meeting the minimum 120-foot lot depth or the 60-foot minimum lot width requirements and 

there is a text modification included in this application for those lots. She explained the minimum width 

and depth requirements are to ensure that houses will be able to fit on these lots, while providing space 
for other amenities. She reported the applicant has provided examples of lot configurations in order to 

demonstrate that these lots have appropriate space; therefore, Staff is supportive of these four lots being 
as shown in the Final Development Plan.  

 
Ms. Downie presented the 44 on-street parking spaces that are proposed in designated bump-outs, which 

are permitted, but not required. She said all units are required to have a two-car garage as well as two 

stacking spaces in the drive-way or auto-court. She said the Development Text specifies that 14 lots must 

 

Land Use and Long 
Range Planning 
5800 Shier Rings Road 
Dublin, Ohio 43016-1236 

 

phone 614.410.4600 
fax  614.410.4747 
www.Dublinohiousa.gov 
____________________ 

 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
September 18, 2014 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 2 of 6 

 
contain side-loaded garages. She said Staff has clarified that auto-court garages specified in the text are 

considered to be side-loaded garages and can be used to meet these requirements.  

 
Ms. Downie said Staff requested the applicant provide sample elevations to show how they are meeting 

the intent of the “Romantic Revival” style of architecture specified in the Development Text for this 
subarea. She said the text has requirements including four-sided architecture and front facades requiring 

a minimum of 20 percent to be brick or stone. She explained when rear or side facades are visible from 
the street; oriented on the street; or visible from a neighboring lot, the amount of brick and stone used is 

required to be proportional to the amount used on the front façade. She said there are specific lots that 

require additional architecture due to their orientation, which she included in the conditions.  
 

Ms. Downie said during the rezoning, the applicant provided an architecture appendix to illustrate 
common characteristics of the “Romantic Revival” style. She said Planning has been working with the 

applicant regarding the consistency and the fine detailing such as the water table, shutters, and transom 

windows. She said the exact details of the architecture will continue to be refined in order to ensure 
appropriate detailing is provided before the submission of building permits. In addition to the approval 

during building permits, she said the architecture will be reviewed by a design committee.  
 

Ms. Downie said Sapri Boulevard will be the only entrance into Subarea C and is proposed to be gated. 

She showed five decorative six-foot tall columns with “Craftsman Style” light fixtures consistent with the 
Dublin Road entrance. She explained three of the columns will be incorporated with the gate. She added 

the remaining two columns are located on either sides of Sapri Boulevard, south of the proposed gate 
along Memorial Drive and each will contain identical 1.8-square-foot signs, which are significantly less 

than the 20 square feet permitted. She said Staff has requested additional landscaping around the service 
structures at the entry to ensure that it will not be visible from Memorial Drive.  

 

Ms. Downie said the proposed Final Plat includes the “0–10-foot” Required Build Zone, easements, and all 
setbacks. She said Staff has asked the applicant to: revise Note ‘A’ regarding front setbacks to clearly 

state a “0-10-foot Required Build Zone”; to make technical changes prior to the submission for City 
Council; and that the labels of the reserves be consistent with the Final Development Plan.  

 

Ms. Downie said there is a Minor Text Modification requested to permit Lots 1, 19, 33, and 37 to have lot 
sizes that are smaller than permitted by the development text. She said these lots will be as shown in the 

Final Development Plan. She said Planning is recommending approval of this Minor Text Modification due 
to the fact the applicant has provided sample lot configurations that demonstrate adequate space for 

homes to fit on these lots.  
 

Ms. Downie said Planning is also recommending approval of the Final Development Plan with the 

following four conditions:  
 

1) That the applicant adjust the labels of the reserves to be consistent in both the Final 
Development Plan and the Final Plat prior to the review of Final Plat by City Council;  

2) That the applicant continue to refine the architectural details prior to the submission of building 

permits to ensure the appropriate detailing is provided that meets the text and the overall design 
theme of the community, subject to approval by Planning;  

3) That lots 1-8, 11-13, 18-20, 29-37 provide additional architectural details, as outlined in the 
Development Text; and  

4) That the applicant provides screening of the proposed service structures located at the entry 

along Memorial Drive, subject to approval by Planning.  
 

Ms. Downie said the proposal complies with the Final Plat review criteria and approval of this request is 
recommended with three conditions:  

 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
September 18, 2014 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 3 of 6 

 
1) That the applicant ensure that any minor technical adjustments to the plat are made prior to City 

Council submittal;  

2) That the plat be updated to include “0-10-foot Required Build Zone” in Note ‘A’ under front yard 
setbacks; and  

3) That the applicant adjusts the labels of the reserves to be consistent in both the Final 
Development Plan and the Final Plat.  

 
The Chair invited the applicant to come forward and state his name and address for the record.  

 

Mike Close, 7360 Bellaire Avenue, Dublin, Ohio, said he represents Vince Romanelli, who will be the 
developer of these lots. He stated they are willing to meet all four conditions including the condition of 

willing to work out the architectural details with Staff prior to the issuing of building permits. He offered 
to answer any questions from the Commission.  

 

The Chair asked if there was anyone from the general public that would like to speak with respect to this 
application. [Hearing none.]  

 
Todd Zimmerman said all the questions he had were answered in the Staff Report.  

 

Amy Kramb said she assumed these units would have patios. Ms. Downie said patios were permitted by 
text to encroach into the rear yard setback by 10 feet.  

 
Mr. Close said there are not going to be big backyards here.  

 
Ms. Kramb was specifically concerned with the two lots on the corners and wanted to confirm the patios 

are permitted now so patios are not requested later.  

Ms. Downie clarified that many of the lots included in the text modification are corner lots, which makes 
what would be a rear yard actually a side yard that requires five-foot setbacks.  

 
Ms. Kramb commented on the architectural drawings showing the side elevations. She said they seemed 

plain with very small windows and needed more detail.  

 
Victoria Newell said she had the exact same comment in regards to the side elevation. She said she 

would like to see the stone come up higher in elevation and have more architectural detail as she did not 
believe it was meeting the intent of the Code.  

 
Amy Salay said she really likes that architectural style but is not comfortable with the other material 

besides brick or stone.  

 
Steve Jones, Romanelli & Hughes Building Company, 5545 Harlem Road, said brick will be a minor 

material, much more stone and stucco would be used, and there will be some use of cementitious siding.  
 

Ms. Salay said the illustrations appear to have too much stucco and would prefer to see more stone. She 

said she liked the photographs that were presented, but they show facades that are almost all stone with 
stucco as an accent instead of the primary building material. She agreed that the windows were small but 

does not know what the interior spaces are and admitted that landscaping makes a huge difference. She 
asked the applicant if they considered losing a lot or two and spreading the lots out a little bit so there 

were no abnormally small lots. She said it is one thing to have one lot like that but there are four and a 

couple of them are located prominently.  
 

Mr. Close said this was addressed during the Preliminary Plan and Rezoning. He said he thought they 
started with 43 lots and lost six lots.  

 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
September 18, 2014 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 4 of 6 

 
Ms. Salay said the lots are going to be awkward unless the homeowners do not spend anytime outside. 

She said they are already small lots and the way the homes are configured is going to be awkward.  

 
Mr. Close said this is similar to a subdivision right off of Fishinger Road. He said they have smaller lots 

and are very popular with empty nesters since they are low maintenance.  
 

Ms. Salay said it is going to be a very interesting little neighborhood as she likes the architecture.  
 

John Hardt inquired about the service structures mentioned in the presentation located up near the 

entrance. He said he presumed that one of them is the water meter for the fire hydrants instead of an 
underground pit.  

 
Jeff Strung, EMH&T, said there is an underground water pit and there is a “hot box”, 28 inches tall above 

grade that is the back flow preventer meter, which is just to the north of that.  

 
Ms. Amorose Groomes asked if the back flow preventer is for the underground irrigation system. Mr. 

Strung clarified it is for the water line involved in underground irrigation.  
 

Ms. Amorose Groomes asked where the controller would be housed. Mr. Strung replied it is in the 

underground pit.  
 

Mr. Hardt said he agreed with Ms. Salay. He said when this project came through and the Preliminary 
Development Plan was approved it was for 37 lots of a certain dimension. He said he was not supportive 

of relieving that dimension right here on day one. He said he is not sure what has to be done, if a lot has 
to be lost, or property lines finagled, but the change in the text that is being requested is something he is 

not terribly supportive of and believes those lot dimensions were agreed upon for a reason. He said Lots 

1 and 37 appear to be loaded off the main entry drive, which is mostly boulevard except where it is 
broken to allow access to those houses. He said he is not a fan of that configuration and would love to 

see that revisited. He said with all the homeowners coming in and out on that main boulevard drive 
through the gate, it does not seem to be an appropriate place to have a driveway.  

 

Mr. Hardt said he agreed the side elevations, in particular, are lacking a lot. He said the images that are 
in the Architecture Appendix show some outstanding architecture and does not believe the black line 

drawings the Commission was provided reflect the same quality. He said some of these lots have 
significant side elevations that are exposed to the street and need a considerable amount of work with 

regards to the architecture. He said the text requires four-sided architecture and he does not believe the 
applicant has met those criteria.  

 

Richard Taylor said he had similar concerns about the lot sizes. He asked Ms. Husak if she recalled if the 
issue of these four lots not meeting the requirements came up in the preliminary or is this the first time 

the Commission has addressed that and if they discussed the need to vary from the original requirement.  
 

Ms. Husak said those four lots were shown like this. She said Lot 1 could be argued it meets 

requirements based on where the 60-foot width is required to be measured at the building line. She said 
the lot does not have two, 60-foot lines at the front and the rear. She said due to the other lot 

configurations, there is always an issue of where that building line sits in terms of the road. She said she 
did not believe those details were available at the time of the Preliminary Development Plan.  

 

Ms. Kramb said she remembered discussions about Lots 19 and 33 specifically during the Preliminary 
Development Plan. She recalled they had talked about sidewalks and how it would take much of the 

space.  
 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
September 18, 2014 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 5 of 6 

 
Mr. Taylor said they discussed that the other two corner lots would be tight, but does not recall 

discussing that they would vary from the required lot sizes.  

 
Ms. Kramb recalls how they discussed it would be hard to measure and remembers removing lots from 

the original plan.  
 

Mr. Taylor stated he did not think the applicant needs to lose any more lots to bring those into 
compliance but does not understand why the Commission would accept lots that do not meet the 

requirements at the start. He indicated usually exceptions come when a house will not fit on a lot at a 

later date. He said it seems like it would be a minor reshuffling of some of these lots to the east to gain 
what is needed.  

 
Mr. Taylor said there are five lots that have significant side elevations and he realizes the drawings do not 

represent these specific houses, but those side elevations need to be as spectacular as the front because 

they are essentially fronts of those houses. He said he does not see anything that comes close to meeting 
the standard that was set in the preliminary approval when they looked at the photographs of the 

examples of “Romantic Revival” homes. He said not only is it the details, but it is the massing. He said he 
was concerned about some of the roof pitches proposed. He said the text also calls for ‘custom homes’ 

and the applicants has been building this floor plan for 30 years. He emphasized the applicant has a long 

way to go on the architecture. He said Mr. Close mentioned Stonegate and that was something the 
Commission talked about as an example and used as a reference for these houses three years ago, and 

those for the most part are pretty extraordinarily well done homes. He emphasized that the homes in this 
application do not meet that standard.  

 
Mr. Taylor concluded that he cannot support this and does not believe that the changes that need to 

happen are ready to be addressed by Staff yet. He said when the Commission talked about this property 

originally, the Commission agreed it was probably the last premier piece of undeveloped land left in 
Dublin and that was their motivation to ensure the homes were beyond spectacular. He said that was 

certainly the strong impression he was left with at the preliminary stage. He reiterated he was 
disappointed in what was proposed and does not believe it looks spectacular at all. He said he would like 

to see something along the lines of Stonegate and the “Romantic Revival” examples shown.  

 
Ms. Amorose Groomes said Lots 1 and 37 should not have the drives loaded off of the boulevard. She 

said she has more concerns with Lots 19 and 33 being on prominent corners. She said she would really 
like to see something placed on those lots that was better. She said if the Commission is going to deviate 

from the lot size, she would like a really good reason to do that. She requested something more 
imaginative so she could possibly be persuaded to say the Commission justified the relief from the lot size 

requirements. She said the images the Commission was shown were really great, but said she did not like 

the drawings they received. She did not know if that was because they were one-dimensional or if the 
architecture really is not as good as they were hoping it would be. She emphasized she would like to see 

more work on the architectural component and would like to see the architecture discussed more in the 
public realm than just between the applicant and Staff.  

 

Ms. Kramb said she agrees that the drives coming off of the boulevard need to be off the north end, 
instead. Ms. Amorose Groomes clarified the point for the applicant. She said the cars coming in off of the 

boulevard will have higher speeds and bring significantly more traffic.  
 

The Chair said there were three motions and three votes before them.  

 
Mr. Close said the difficulty with this project, when dedicating more than 40 percent of the value to open 

space, is that there are constrictions on what can be done. He said 37 lots is about where the applicant 
can make this happen. He estimated Romanelli & Hughes Building Company have 40 percent of the lots 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
September 18, 2014 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 6 of 6 

 
already reserved and understands architecture can be a matter of taste, but with those comments in 

mind, he asked the Commission to table this application.  

 
The Chair said to provide clear direction, the Commission is not necessarily asking the applicant to lose 

any lots, but maybe reconfigure the way the structure might be set on the lot.  
 

Mr. Close said the reality is these homes are going to be $700,000 and up as they are proposed now. He 
said if they lose another lot, then economics stop working.  

 

The Chair said that was not the request of the body here.  
 

Mr. Close said they can fix the driveways and look into the architecture.  
 

Ms. Kramb said she was fine with the number of lots as this is what the Commission decided upon in the 

Preliminary Development Plan so she expected these would be tight.  
 

Mr. Close said he understood what was said about side elevations.  
 

Ms. Amorose Groomes said it was not as much the lots themselves as it is the setting of the structures on 

the lots, what we have seen, and what we might like to see.  
 

The Chair asked if there was a motion on the floor to table this application.  
 

Motion and Vote  
 

Mr. Taylor moved, Ms. Salay seconded, to table this application for a Final Development Plan and Final 

Plat. The vote was as follows: Ms. Kramb, yes; Mr. Hardt, yes; Ms. Newell, yes; Mr. Zimmerman, yes; Ms. 
Amorose Groomes, yes; Ms. Salay, yes; and Mr. Taylor, yes. (Approved 7 – 0)  

 


































































	C1_History
	C2_History
	14-062_zoning


	14-062FDP-FP_Deer Run signed ROA
	C1_History
	Minutes_PZC_091814
	C2_History
	C2_History
	C2_History






